

Mini Review Stochastic simulation in systems biology

Tamás Székely Jr.^{a,*}, Kevin Burrage^{a,b}

^a Department of Computer Science, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

^b Department of Mathematics, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 10 October 2014 Accepted 13 October 2014 Available online 30 October 2014

Keywords: Stochastic simulation Discrete-state stochastic methods Heterogeneity Natural systems are, almost by definition, heterogeneous: this can be either a boon or an obstacle to be overcome, depending on the situation. Traditionally, when constructing mathematical models of these systems, heterogeneity has typically been ignored, despite its critical role. However, in recent years, stochastic computational methods have become commonplace in science. They are able to appropriately account for heterogeneity; indeed, they are based around the premise that systems inherently contain at least one source of heterogeneity (namely, intrinsic heterogeneity).

In this mini-review, we give a brief introduction to theoretical modelling and simulation in systems biology and discuss the three different sources of heterogeneity in natural systems. Our main topic is an overview of stochastic simulation methods in systems biology.

There are many different types of stochastic methods. We focus on one group that has become especially popular in systems biology, biochemistry, chemistry and physics. These discrete-state stochastic methods do not follow individuals over time; rather they track only total populations. They also assume that the volume of interest is spatially homogeneous. We give an overview of these methods, with a discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of each, and suggest when each is more appropriate to use. We also include references to software implementations of them, so that beginners can quickly start using stochastic methods for practical problems of interest.

© 2014 Székely and Burrage. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction						
2.	Heterogeneity						
3.	Deterministic versus stochastic models						
4. Accounting for stochasticity							
5.	Stochastic methods						
	5.1. Master equation						
	5.2. Stochastic simulation algorithm 21						
	5.3. Tau-leap						
	5.4. Higher-order tau-leap						
	5.5. Multiscale methods						
6.	Summary and outlook						
Acknowledgements							
Refe	References						

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* tamas.szekely@cs.ox.ac.uk (T. Székely). The recent paradigm of systems biology sets out to examine biological phenomena at the systems level. This is in contrast to the widespread approach of reductionism, whereby researchers attempt to

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2014.10.003

^{2001-0370/© 2014} Székely and Burrage. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

understand entire systems by studying them one small component at a time. The reductionist approach has given us valuable insights and a detailed understanding of the molecular components of biological processes. However, it is becoming clear that we need a complementary approach that takes a holistic view of these processes by looking at their systems-level dynamics: this is systems biology [1,2]. Reductionism implicitly assumes that the entire system is just the sum of its parts, which is not necessarily true: complex patterns can arise from collections of simple components [3]. The challenge of systems biology is to understand extremely complex systems without breaking them into easy-to-digest parts, and for this, the right computational and mathematical tools are essential [4].

Mathematical modelling and computational simulation perform essential roles in biology. This popular mantra of the theoretical biologist is often heard stated, but one could easily ask why. Models are useful for many different purposes: perhaps the most important of these are crystallising our assumptions and testing them, guiding experiments and looking at experimentally unreachable scenarios [5], as well as the much-vaunted ability to make new predictions [6]. Ideally, there should be a virtuous cycle between experiment and theory to understand the natural system in which we are interested [7] (Fig. 1). This starts off from our system and question of interest (green box, Fig. 1), for which we generate an initial hypothesis. This can be very simple, as it is just a starting point: for instance, if our question was "what is the shape of the Earth?", then an initial hypothesis could be "the Earth is flat". Then, a mathematical model can be constructed, and solved or simulated computationally; in parallel, experiments can be run and their results compared to the model outputs (blue boxes, Fig. 1). If the model and experiments agree, then parameters for the model can be inferred from the data and the model refined, again leading to further experiments (large arrows, Fig. 1). If they do not agree, this implies that the hypothesis was inappropriate: the model needs revision, and theoretical tests using different models can provide a starting point for further experiments. For this we need to go back to our natural system and propose revisions (major or minor) to the model and new avenues for experiment, as well as verifying our findings (small arrows, Fig. 1). Of course, in our example the model, based on the assumption of a flat Earth, would disagree with our experimental observations. Therefore we would have to reconsider our initial hypothesis, and by iterations settle on the correct answer to our question.

At this point, we pause to clarify some terminology: a *model* is an abstract representation of the system in which we are interested, usually formulated mathematically. This model can, in simple cases, be solved



Fig. 1. Illustration of the cycle of information flow between the natural world and our theoretical and experimental efforts to understand it. Adapted from Ref. [7].

analytically for a particular question, giving us an exact analytical solution to the question posed to the model. In general, however, analytical solutions for all but the most simple models do not exist, and we have to resort to methods to solve the model numerically. These give rise to numerical solutions, which are approximations to the analytical solution that become more and more accurate as we use smaller and smaller numerical *steps* (the unit of discretisation of a numerical approach). Numerical solutions are (nowadays) evaluated computationally because they are very time-consuming to carry out by hand. In many cases, the numerical solution will try to mimic the behaviour of the real system over time – this is a *simulation*. A well-known example might be a flight training simulator for pilots that simulates flying an aeroplane. This is based on a complicated mathematical model that is composed of equations for flight dynamics and for how the aeroplane should react to the controls, as well as other factors such as weather. The numerical solutions to these equations describe how the aeroplane behaves over time – they constitute the simulation that the pilot sees displayed on the screen.

An important point to remember when we talk about mathematical models is that, in a sense, "all models are wrong" [8]. This does not mean their conclusions or predictions are false – as the famous quote continues, "but some are useful" [8]; rather, we should bear in mind that all models are abstractions of reality, simplified versions of the real systems that they represent. A model is a vehicle for gaining understanding [6], and we would not gain any new understanding from a model that was as complicated as the real system. Indeed, if we could construct a perfect model we would not need a model at all, since we would already have perfect knowledge of the system. Almost all models are phenomenological; that is, they are based on a set of simplified assumptions that we have distilled from the real system using intuition rather than rigorous proof from basic principles [9]. Incorporating only the important ones allows us to crystallise our understanding of the system (and if the model gives wrong results, we know that our assumptions were wrong or incomplete). Creating phenomenological models is not a trivial task: "sensing which assumptions might be critical and which irrelevant to the question at hand is the art of modeling" [10].

The choice of modelling/simulation method is determined by the aspects of the natural system in which we are interested, how realistic an estimation of it we want, and our mathematical and computational resources. There are many types of methods that could be used, each incorporating different levels of detail and requiring different computational effort (Fig. 2). At one end of the scale, the most accurate, and computationally expensive, methods are molecular dynamics simulations. These can be separated into two broad categories: quantum methods [11], which evaluate the wavefunctions at the level of individual electrons and are necessary when quantum effects become important (surprisingly, there are examples of this in macroscopic biological processes [12,13]), or classical methods, which go one step up and solve the classical equations of motion for molecules to simulate their motion deterministically [14]. Although these methods are as close as we can get to exactly and fully describing systems at the microscopic level, they nonetheless still make considerable simplifications (for instance, the approximations of the Schrödinger equations/deterministic force fields in quantum/classical molecular dynamics, respectively).

Going up in scale, there are several classes of stochastic methods (our main focus in this paper), and at the highest end of the scale are continuous deterministic methods such as ordinary and partial differential equations [15–17] (Fig. 2). There are several transitions between random (quantum molecular dynamics, stochastic simulations) and deterministic methods (classical molecular dynamics, ordinary differential equations), and the reason for this is the level at which we view the system and the information in which we are interested (we explore this further in Section 4). Each of these methods is best suited for solving problems of certain scale and complexity. For instance, classical molecular dynamics can simulate huge numbers of discrete particles for very short simulation times (usually nanoseconds, microseconds or sometimes up



Fig. 2. Modelling and simulation methods compared based on their level of detail/accuracy versus their computational difficulty. We focus on the fourth category of methods, which we have broken down into sub-categories that we describe in Section 5. The figure is not to scale. *The master equation and the SSA are both 'exact' as such (see Section 5), but there are some caveats. The master equation can be solved exactly, numerically or by approximations, whilst the SSA is strictly only exact in the limit of infinite simulations.

to the millisecond scale), whereas ordinary differential equations look only at concentrations of macromolecules but can simulate these for many hours (or longer). An important point to remember is that no method type can be said to be 'better' than the rest, only more suitable for a certain problem. Each has its own uses, arising from its inherent advantages and disadvantages.

In this mini-review, we give an overview of discrete-state stochastic simulations (henceforth, shortened to 'discrete'; the time variable is continuous) that are commonly used in systems biology. Specifically, we will focus on the fourth group of methods in Fig. 2 (in yellow). These can be used to simulate molecular populations over relatively long time periods, whilst still regarding them as being composed of discrete units. However, as we do not keep track of each molecule's position or momentum, these methods lose their spatial aspect and must also assume that the system is stochastic (see Section 4). We have attempted to keep this overview as non-technical as possible. For this reason, we give only general descriptions of each method type and avoid delving into their mathematical definitions, derivations or background; for those readers who are interested, we provide references to the primary literature. For more mathematical overviews of stochastic methods, we refer the reader to several useful works [18-21]. In addition, Ref. [22] is a short non-technical overview of stochastic methods and parameter inference (Fig. 1, top arrow), and Ref. [23] gives an accessible introduction to the mathematical details.

This mini-review consists of five further sections. We start with the concepts of heterogeneity and noise, introduced in Section 2. In Section 3, we explicitly illustrate the difference between deterministic and stochastic methods using an example. Next, in Section 4 we introduce some non-technical background for discrete stochastic methods. Section 5 contains the descriptions of the main types of discrete stochastic methods and discussions of their respective advantages and disadvantages. Finally, in Section 6 we give a brief summary and discuss fruitful research directions for the future.

2. Heterogeneity

Heterogeneity is a key property of biological systems at all scales: from the molecular level all the way up to the population level [24–26]. In order to gain a better quantitative understanding of these systems, it is important to incorporate heterogeneity into systems biology models. Although during the past century and half the contributions of 'nature versus nurture' to heterogeneity evoked endless debate, nowadays it is common scientific consensus that 'nature' and 'nurture' are not two sides of a coin: rather they have a complex and interconnected relationship [27]. In recent years, it has been noted that we must consider another source of heterogeneity, arising from 'chance' [28–30]. Thus we can classify heterogeneity as arising from three main sources: *genetic* (nature), *environmental* (nurture) and *stochastic* (chance) (Fig. 3). We give a brief overview below; Ref. [25] provides an excellent and more in-depth discussion of this topic.

Perhaps the most obvious of these is genetic heterogeneity. Since Darwin, it has become canonical knowledge that cells and animals with different genes should clearly be different. This is certainly the case in most populations of cells and animals in the wild. One counterexample is convergent evolution, where different species evolved similar phenotypic features independently [31]. This phenotypic similarity is thought to usually have a different genetic basis, showing that the relationship between genotype and phenotype is not a simple, linear one [32]. However, recent work has shown that there are a surprising number of cases of convergent (phenotypic) evolution with a corresponding convergence in genotype [33,34]. As genetics is a very well-established topic and covered in many textbooks [35], we do not go into further details about genetic heterogeneity here.

However, even isogenic (that is, genetically identical) organisms or populations of cells can be very different; the famous cloned animals from recent decades are excellent illustrations of this phenomenon, known as non-genetic or phenotypic heterogeneity [25,26,36,37]. In other words, heterogeneity is not only generated by genetic variation, and we can identify two other sources of heterogeneity.

The first can loosely be called environmental, or *extrinsic* [38,39]. This is a very broad term whose usage various by author and context,



Fig. 3. Sources of heterogeneity. The total observed heterogeneity in a natural system broken down into its three components: genetic, environmental, and stochastic. Different sources of heterogeneity are present at different scales, and the typical scales are given. Adapted from Ref. [25]. and can best be labelled as 'heterogeneity from neither genetic nor intrinsic sources' (this definition will become more apparent shortly). Depending on the context, any of the following can be contributing factors: the external environment of a metazoan; the external environment of constituent cells inside a metazoan; the external environment of a cell population (either unicellular organisms or a cell line in vitro); the internal environment of the cells themselves; and cell state [40]. Examples of each of these factors could be: the weather an animal experiences in a particular year; the amount of water or oxygen in the blood of an animal; the pH or nutrient level in which a cell population is propagated; numbers and positions within each cell of shared gene expression machinery such as ribosomes; and cell cycle stage or cell age, respectively. Clearly, not all of these sources will be considered for the same system, and they must be chosen phenomenologically. For instance, if we were interested in animal populations we would look only at the external environment of an animal, whereas if we were interested in levels of protein expression of a cell population, we might look at differences in individual cells such as ribosome number and cell cycle stage. Unfortunately, there is a strong possibility of confusion when the same term is applied at so many different scales. Despite this, we have deliberately given such a broad definition as we feel that it is helpful to bear in mind the generality of these ideas, and that they have been used at various scales and for many different problems. As always, the choice of what to include in the model lies with the modeller.

The final source of heterogeneity, present in all living (and nonliving) systems but often masked by the macroscopic scale at which we observe them, was perhaps first observed in a cell biology context by Spudich and Koshland [41]. They noticed that individual bacteria from an isogenic population maintained different swimming patterns throughout their entire lives. This was a visible manifestation of the third source of heterogeneity [26]: chance, otherwise known as stochasticity or intrinsic heterogeneity (often interchangeably called *intrinsic noise*, without the same negative connotations as the colloquial usage of the word). This arises from random thermal fluctuations at the level of individual molecules [24,36,42]. It affects the DNA, RNA, protein and other chemical molecules inside cells in many ways, most notably by ensuring that their reactions occur randomly, as does their movement (via Brownian motion). It is inherent to the process of gene expression and cannot be predicted (except in a statistical sense) or fully eliminated. Thus two identical genes in an identical intracellular environment would still be expressed differently, even in the absence of the previous two sources of heterogeneity [36,43]. In contrast, extrinsic heterogeneity arises from other, outside, sources and affects all genes inside a cell equally. The reason for this terminology is that these phrases were popularised in the literature of intracellular gene expression, where only the random fluctuations are actually inherent to the expression of a single gene, and all other sources of heterogeneity can be accounted for.

It is possible to separate the contributions of intrinsic and extrinsic noise in a gene expression network inside a single cell: this is the classic experiment of Elowitz et al. [44]. In brief, they incorporated two fluorescent proteins (cyan and yellow, although they are usually represented as red and green for conceptual purposes) into the genome of an isogenic population of Escherichia coli bacterial cells at equidistant points from the origin of replication. The hypothesis, then, is that if intrinsic noise does not exist, the two proteins would be expressed equally, albeit varying (identically) over time due to extrinsic noise. However, in the presence of both intrinsic and extrinsic noise, the expression of the two proteins would be uncorrelated, as intrinsic noise affects the expression of each protein differently (Fig. 4A). At the level of the bacterial population, the presence of only extrinsic noise would result in cells that are all yellow (i.e., both red and green fluorescent proteins expressed equally) but have different brightness; adding intrinsic noise, the population would be a mix of red, green and yellow cells of different brightness (Fig. 4B). The respective noise contributions can also be visualised on a plot of the expression level of green versus red fluorescent proteins: extrinsic noise results in cells distributed along the diagonal (full line, Fig. 4C), and intrinsic noise shifts the cells away from this diagonal (dashed lines, Fig. 4C). Of course, Elowitz et al. found that both sources of heterogeneity were present [44]. The respective contributions can also be elegantly quantified using theoretical analysis [45]; however these calculations are not valid in all situations, for instance when regulatory molecules are shared between genes [46].

Intrinsic noise is an important biological phenomenon, and its effects have to be accounted for by cells and organisms. It has both a positive and negative influence. Some biological systems have evolved to make use of it: a good example is the case of persister-type bacteria, which form a subset of some bacterial populations and can withstand antibiotic treatments even though they do not have genetic mutations for resistance [47,48]. This is an example of cellular decision making, the ability of cells to randomly transition between different stable, heritable states [49]. These stable states arise from the architecture of the gene expression network, with positive feedback loops leading to bistability at the single-cell level [50]. The individual cells randomly change between states (called stochastic switching); the stability of the states at the population level is then achieved by regulating the switching rates of each state [51]. Some of the most well-known examples of cellular decision making are bacteria [52,53] and yeast [54], which are easier to investigate experimentally than large multicellular organisms. Yet, this phenomenon is common to cells at all levels of life (for example, human progenitor cells [55]), and is argued to be one of the key processes in cellular development [49]. The main difference is that in unicellular organisms, cellular decision making is useful for cheap, non-genetic adaptation in the face of fluctuating environments, whereas in multicellular organisms it is used to produce distinct cell types and functions within a constant environment [42]. Finally, of course, stochasticity plays a crucial role in causing genetic mutations [56,57]; these are essential for creating the heritable variation upon which natural selection can act, thus allowing evolution to occur [58].

However, mutations are a double-edged sword, as they can often have strong negative effects. Deleterious mutations that are phenotypically expressed frequently result in loss of important functions or even organismic death, and it has been shown that a substantial proportion of mutations are deleterious [59]. Mutations in stem and somatic cells are also thought to cause cancer, which has become a serious disease in modern times [60,61]. Another major negative effect of intrinsic noise is to interfere with precise regulation of molecular numbers by gene expression [62], and cells have to compensate for this by adopting mechanisms that enable robustness of certain key properties [63,64], such as feedback loops [36,43]. Indeed, it has been found that critical cellular systems have evolved to minimise their levels of noise [65,66].

It is important to remember that these three sources of heterogeneity are not independent, and they are all interconnected in their effects on cells and populations [26]. For instance, in order for cellular decision making to occur, the cell must be able to settle in two (or more) stable states, which are non-genetic in nature. Thus cellular decision making involves both environmental and intrinsic heterogeneity, the former in affecting which stable states are possible and the latter in switching between them. Another example is that of genetic mutations, where intrinsic noise causes the mutations that then contribute to genetic heterogeneity. Finally, a powerful example of the interplay of all three types of heterogeneity is evolution, one of the most fundamental processes in nature: evolution acts on phenotypes, which have a genetic basis but are also affected by both extrinsic and intrinsic noise [40].

3. Deterministic versus stochastic models

For the rest of this mini-review, we will use the language of cell biology, both to keep the text simple, as well as because many of these concepts have been extensively used in cell biology. Therefore, we will refer to reactions occurring inside a cell volume between different types of biochemical molecules (or, interchangeably, particles) with various reaction rates. These will generally be genes (for our purposes,



Fig. 4. Separating intrinsic and extrinsic noise with a two-colour experiment. Here we illustrate the classic two-colour experiment of Elowitz et al. [44]. Two differently-coloured fluorescent proteins (here, red and green) are inserted into the genome of *E. coli*. (A) Hypothetical time series of fluorescent protein expression for either extrinsic noise only (correlated expression), or both intrinsic and extrinsic noise (uncorrelated expression). Numbers are labels for each bacterial cell. (B) The corresponding population-level view of the bacterial cells at each of the two time points t_1 and t_2 . (C) Plotting the expression levels of the fluorescent proteins on the same figure, extrinsic noise results in variation along the diagonal (blue line). Intrinsic noise results in deviations from the diagonal (dashed blue lines). Adapted from Ref. [44].

sections of DNA that are copied into mRNA and initiate a gene expression network), RNA or proteins, as well as chemical compounds. The terminology we use transfers easily to other systems, and we emphasise that the methods we describe can be, and have been, also applied more generally.

As we have discussed in the previous section, there is considerable heterogeneity at every scale of biological systems. The first two sources are now well-known, but until recently the effects of intrinsic noise have generally been ignored in biology [28], both conceptually as well as in the mathematical and computational methods that have traditionally been used. These are typically systems of differential equations, which are both continuous and deterministic - that is, their state variables are real numbers representing the concentrations of molecules and they do not include noise [67]. Such models are indeed useful for many problems, but they can only be regarded as accurate when we are interested in the mean dynamics of a large number of molecules, large enough that we need not worry about individual molecules but can approximate them as concentrations. This becomes viable when molecular populations are of the order of many hundreds or above, for instance in enzymatic reactions in the cytoplasm or solutions in test tubes. Above this population size, the fluctuations from intrinsic noise are averaged out and the deterministic approximation becomes increasingly valid. This is because intrinsic noise, as a rule of thumb, behaves as $\frac{1}{\sqrt{X}}$, where X is the number of molecules in the system.

We define noise level here as the coefficient of variation of the abundance of a molecule, that is, the standard deviation of its distribution divided by its mean. Roughly, the above rule of thumb arises because molecular reactions are random Poissonian birth–death processes (see Section 4). More rigorous theoretical efforts to characterise the scaling also invoke a simple birth-death model of transcription (the copying of a section of DNA to mRNA) and translation (protein production from mRNA), the analysis of which yields a scaling law. This scaling does indeed behave roughly as stated above for both mRNA and proteins, with a Poisson term of $\frac{1}{\sqrt{X}}$ plus other, more complicated, term(s) [43,68–70]. For mRNA, these depend on the type of regulation, with constitutive expression producing a Poisson distribution as expected for a single birth-death process, and more complicated regulation strategies producing non-Poisson mRNA distributions [71]. Proteins also have non-Poisson distributions (albeit their scaling is also roughly Poissonian), as they are dependent on both mRNA birth and death as well as translation rates [43,69]. Experimental studies have confirmed these results, finding that total noise does scale roughly as the inverse square of abundance until high abundances. At this point, extrinsic noise is thought to take over as the dominant source of noise [72–74].

Thus intrinsic noise rapidly increases as molecular populations decrease, and it often becomes necessary to include the effects of stochasticity in biological models, especially for small systems with low populations of some molecular species, such as gene expression networks [75]. Here, discrete stochastic models must be used, whose variables represent actual molecular numbers. An intermediate model type between these two scales is that of continuous stochastic models (stochastic differential equations) [76]. These can be used to model biological systems that are relatively large (of the order of hundreds and up) and so can approximate molecular numbers as concentrations, but also include the effects of noise. They are similar in form to deterministic differential equations, but contain extra terms that represent noise [77,78].

An informative example for illustrating the key differences between the deterministic and stochastic approaches is the Schlögl reaction system [79]. This is a system of four chemical reactions, commonly used as a benchmark system in the literature, given by

$$A + 2X \frac{c_1}{c_2} 3X,$$

$$B \frac{c_3}{c_4} X.$$
(1)

There are three different molecule types, *X*, *A* and *B*, with *X* the molecule whose numbers we are interested in, and levels of A and B held constant. This system has a bistable distribution under certain parameter configurations, with an unstable equilibrium state at an intermediate value between the two stable ones. We simulate trajectories of this system over non-dimensional time T = 10 using both a discrete stochastic method (the SSA, see Section 5) as well as a deterministic (ordinary differential equation) method (Fig. 5). In the stochastic case, the trajectories are different in each simulation (Fig. 5, coloured lines), and when many of them are run a full probability density function can be found (Fig. 5, blue curves). When initial X (denoted X(0)) numbers are high, X at final time (X(T)) is generally also high (Fig. 5A), and similarly for low X(0) (Fig. 5C). However, X(T) can often end up in the other stable state, especially for intermediate values of X(0) (Fig. 5B). In contrast, using the deterministic model, each X(0) always produces the same X(T) (Fig. 5, black lines). The deterministic solution switches from one trajectory (corresponding to high or low X(T) to the other at the intermediate, unstable equilibrium state (around X(0) = 250 for these parameters). Note that with the parameter regime used here, the system is always bistable: although it appears that there is only one stable state in Fig. 5A and C, if the stochastic simulations were run for a long simulation time T the resulting probability distributions would all look similar to that in Fig. 5B.

Running many stochastic simulations reveals the full probability distribution, asymptotically approaching exactness as simulation number is increased; in contrast, a deterministic simulation can only ever find one point from the full distribution, an obvious simplification even of a unimodal distribution. Moreover, in the case of bimodal systems such as the Schlögl reactions, a deterministic simulation can find at best one point on one of the peaks and so cannot be considered representative of the true behaviour of the system. On the other hand, deterministic simulations are generally much faster to run than their stochastic counterparts, and in many cases their result does represent some useful statistic of the system (for instance, the mean of a symmetric, unimodal distribution) – but this can usually only be determined after comparison with stochastic results. For a more technical description of the precise relationship between stochastic and deterministic models, see Ref. [80]. Deterministic methods are an important class of modelling and simulation methods: they have been used extensively in many fields, they often obtain good results, are much faster to solve than stochastic methods, and have mature fields dedicated to their analysis and solution. They are complementary to the stochastic methods we focus on in this mini-review and both can be employed in concert with each other.

4. Accounting for stochasticity

In an ideal world with infinite computational power, we might think that we could run simulations involving every single atom and its electrons to solve every possible problem with perfect accuracy, by tracking their individual positions and momenta (a hypothetical perfectly accurate version of molecular dynamics). However this would not be possible for two reasons: 1) quantum effects would introduce randomness (the only way to fully incorporate this is to use a quantum framework that is inherently probabilistic, rather than deterministic); and 2) even forgetting about quantum effects, the simulations would



Fig. 5. Simulations of the Schlögl system using deterministic and stochastic methods. Four typical trajectories of the SSA (coloured lines, left panels) and ordinary differential equations (black lines, left panels). The full distribution at simulation time T = 10, in the limit of a large number of simulations, is shown in the right panels for each initial configuration. Note that here we actually used the master equation (see Section 5), which can be solved numerically for this problem, to generate these as it allowed for faster computation. Parameters used are $A = 10^5$, $B = 2 \times 10^5$ and $c_1 = 3 \times 10^{-7}$, $c_2 = 10^{-4}$, $c_3 = 10^{-3}$, and $c_4 = 3.5$.

be very sensitive to initial conditions because of the extreme complexity of the problem. But the accuracy of a model's initial conditions depends on the sensitivity of our instruments, which will never be fully perfect. Thus, at best, our simulations could give us excellent approximations to reality for finite time spans. Finally, we do not live in an ideal world and even our current, approximate, molecular dynamics simulations are extremely computationally intensive, so we are nowhere near to the ideal-world scenario above. For now, therefore, when we are interested in simulating relatively complicated systems for longer than milliseconds, it makes sense to simplify the model to remove extraneous information. If we are not explicitly interested in the positions and momenta of all molecules, then we can simply forget about them and focus only on how the total number of each molecular species changes through time. Doing this means we must now abandon our deterministic formulation, label all this extra information that we have abandoned as a 'black box' represented as randomness (see below), and treat the problem as a stochastic one.

Biochemical systems can involve many different types of molecules, which vary in size and number, moving around in a solution (for instance, the inside of a cell or a test tube); we are typically only interested in a subset of them. Inevitably, the molecules will experience a series of collisions with each other, sometimes with another molecule of interest and sometimes with other molecules. A fraction of these collisions will be between molecules of the correct type, energy and direction to be reactive, rather than elastic, collisions. We now make two key assumptions, that non-reactive collisions are much more frequent than reactive ones, and that the system is in thermal equilibrium. These ensure that the system is 'well-mixed' and our molecules of interest are distributed 'macroscopically homogeneously' throughout the volume (that is, randomly with a uniform distribution) [81]. Looking at the probability that a reaction occurs in an infinitesimal time interval, we can show that the time between reactions has an exponential distribution. We do not go into the mathematical details here; Gillespie's original text gives a coherent step-by-step account (Ref. [82], p. 2344). This implies that the number of reactions occurring in some time interval is given by a Poisson random number (Ref. [83], p. 1719), as was also suggested by Spudich and Koshland to explain their observations [41]. These results arise directly from considering the interactions of the molecules of the system in a probabilistic sense under the assumptions above. The derivation justifies the use of mass action kinetics, where the propensity, or instantaneous probability, of a reaction is given by a rate constant multiplied by the abundance of reactants (number for discrete methods, concentration for continuous ones; the rate constant changes accordingly [84]). The population numbers are random variables, since the reactions occur randomly. Combined with the above conditions, this means that we can use a Markov jump process to model the time evolution of this system [81,82,85,86]. These make discrete jumps in state, with the current state of the system only depending on the previous state. The mathematics behind this Markov formalism has been thoroughly researched and we do not focus on it here [68,86] – it is, however, important to know that our models are based on this framework.

For biochemical reaction systems that satisfy the assumptions above, the simplification we have made results in a huge decrease in computational effort whilst *still* allowing us to tell how the molecular populations behave over time in a statistically exact way (where 'statistically exact' means that the simulation results have statistics identical to that of the Markov process that we have assumed describes our system) [81]. Indeed, this exactness should also hold for other systems that obey the same assumptions, i.e. they are spatially homogeneous and wellmixed by frequent collisions (or an active mixing mechanism), and whose interactions can be assumed to be collision-driven. Of course, for systems that do not satisfy these assumptions, the simulations will not be exact; in this case, we may be able to assume similar principles but can no longer rely on a rigorous derivation, leaving us with a standard phenomenological model.

Now, how important is this property of exactness? Overall, it may not be a hugely important factor, for three reasons. Firstly, although the simulation results may exactly stick to our model, by its very nature the model will not be an exact representation of reality, and so will itself be 'inexact' to some degree, as discussed in the Introduction section. Secondly, even when a method is exact in this way, it is only in the limit of infinite simulations (or when solved analytically, for the master equation), and as we are restricted by computational time the simulation number will often not be as close as we would like to this limit. Finally, and most significantly, there is usually a large amount of uncertainty in the measurements that experiments can produce due to the numerous sources of error (e.g., [87]). Experimental error levels can often be much higher than the difference between exact and approximate simulations, thus negating the advantage of an exact method.

This approach was initially introduced to simulate the time evolution of dilute gases, as it relies on the assumption that the reactions are activation-controlled (called 'ballistic' by Gillespie), meaning that the molecules diffuse to within reacting distance of each other faster than the reaction can occur [18,88]. More recently, it has been extended to dilute solutions in a bath of solvents, which because of their slow rate of diffusion are diffusion-controlled, that is the molecules diffuse slowly compared to the reaction time [88,89]. This latter case is clearly the more relevant to cell biology, as both the interior and exterior environments of cells are much more like a dilute solution than a gas. In fact, although most applications of these methods in cell biology were for simulating liquid solutions, it had not been rigorously shown prior to Ref. [89] that the formulation would still hold for such cases.

There is now overwhelming evidence that the inside of the cell is far from being a homogeneous environment, and there are many factors that constrain the movement of molecules (known as macromolecular crowding) [90–92]. When these effects become too strong, our main assumptions no longer hold and the methods we describe in this minireview may not be accurate anymore. This is currently an active area of research [88,93,94]. Despite this, there are many cases where macromolecular crowding is not an issue [92], or where we can approximately say that this is the case. Thus, like ODEs, non-spatial stochastic methods remain extremely useful theoretical tools, but even more so for systems with low numbers of molecules. As always with modelling, we have to be aware of our assumptions and make sure they hold in each particular problem.

5. Stochastic methods

Summarising the previous section, we have assumed that our system is well-mixed and in thermal equilibrium, and the molecules inside are moving around randomly. This implies that the molecules are distributed randomly, roughly homogeneously inside the volume (with equal probability of being found anywhere, that is). This tells us that the probability of a single reaction occurring within some short time period is a function *only* of *X*, the current state of the system (and a rate constant) [81,82,85,86]. Therefore, because the molecular populations are random variables and their values after the next reaction depend only on their current values, we can model the time evolution of such systems as Markov jump processes [81,86].

We saw earlier the three types of heterogeneity in biological systems. So far in our discussion of stochastic methods, we have only considered intrinsic heterogeneity. Thus the methods below inherently incorporate intrinsic, but not other sources of heterogeneity. However, this is not a problem: genetic and environmental heterogeneity can be included even in deterministic simulations, and it is the intrinsic contribution that they are missing. Genetic heterogeneity can roughly be assumed to stay constant over simulation time, whereas environmental heterogeneity can vary on a timescale that is comparable to the cell cycle time [62]. The way to incorporate these is by using different initial conditions, parameters and reaction propensities. In the case of genetic or slowly-changing environmental heterogeneity, these are set at the start and kept constant; for faster-changing environmental heterogeneity, the parameters or reaction propensities can be varied over the course of the simulation [95]. Their values can be chosen randomly from some distribution (known or assumed), or set manually if we have enough information about the system.

5.1. Master equation

One starting point in the Markov formalism is to write down a socalled *master equation* [85], which gives an exact and full description of the behaviour of the Markov process through time. It consists of a system of coupled differential equations, with one equation for each possible state of the system at each time point, that can be evaluated to give a full probability distribution. In simple terms, this chemical master equation asks the question "what is the probability that the system is in some state X at time t + 1?" The answer is made up of two contributions:

- 1. the probability that the system was *already* in state *X* at time *t* and did not change +
- 2. the probability that the system was in *another* state at time *t* and changed into state *X*.

Repeating this to find the probabilities of *all* possible states (and then forming it into a set of differential equations by taking the rate of change of these probabilities over time) yields the master equation.

Solving the master equation would seem to be the ideal way of looking at stochastic systems, as it can tell us the full distribution of possible states the system can be in over time, but for one major disadvantage: its complexity. This becomes apparent when considering how many equations must be solved at each time point, and bearing in mind that the number of possible states can increase exponentially with time. Analytical solutions can only be found for very simple systems with linear (mass action) reaction propensities [96]. The equations can also be directly solved numerically, giving approximations of the probability distribution; although for more complicated problems this is still impractical due to the large number of possible states, recent work has shown that it is becoming a viable approach that can sometimes be faster than simulation for realistic systems [97–102].

It is also possible to derive the moment equations for the stochastic model from the master equation; these are *deterministic* differential equations that describe only the values of the moments (for instance, the mean) through time, rather than the entire distribution. In general, except for the case of linear reactions again, they also form an infinite set of equations that must be closed manually, thus introducing errors [103–105]. Another approach is to use the linear noise approximation of van Kampen on the master equation, which yields information on the behaviour of the mean plus small fluctuations about it (that is, the second central moment of the full distribution) in the limit of continuous molecular populations [68,106].

Nevertheless, it is often the case that the systems in which we are interested are too complicated to solve using the master equation approach, even numerically or via an approximate method. Thus we must use trajectory-based approaches, which differ from the master equation in that they do not find the distribution of all possible states over time. Rather, they simulate single realisations, meaning that at each step they choose one out of all the possible outcomes. The trajectory of each stochastic simulation is different (as in Fig. 5), since each is a single realisation sampled randomly from the full distribution given by the master equation. Given many of these random single trajectories, we can build up a picture of the full distribution.

5.2. Stochastic simulation algorithm

This brings us to the workhorse stochastic method for many researchers today: the stochastic simulation algorithm (SSA; also known as the Gillespie method or Gillespie SSA) [82]. This method is statistically exact — that is, a full probability distribution built up from an infinite number of simulations will be identical to the distribution of the Markov process, given by the master equation (Fig. 6). The direct method implementation of Gillespie [82] is arguably the simplest SSA variant, and it is conceptually very easy to understand: in order to simulate one stochastic realisation, we must step along in time, choosing 1) when the next reaction will happen, and 2) what that reaction will be. The SSA is very popular and its algorithmic simplicity ensures that it is easy to start using for practical simulations. For this reason, we recommend it as a starting point for readers interested in trying stochastic simulations in their own research. We do not give exact algorithmic instructions here, as there are detailed instructions in many other sources, such as Refs. [18,20,23, 82,88]. There is also complete software available to start using the SSA



Fig. 6. Comparison of simulation methods. (A) Two typical trajectories each from the SSA (green line) and tau-leap (red dotted line) and ordinary differential equation solutions (black line). The inset shows an enlargement between t = 6.7 and t = 6.9 to highlight the discrete steps of the SSA. (B) Full probability distributions at final time T = 10 generated from 10^4 simulations of the SSA and tau-leap with step sizes 0.05 and 0.4, compared to the solution of the master equation (from which the SSA is almost indistinguishable). Here X(0) = 250.

straight away (see Table 1). The SSA can also be used to simulate delays in intracellular processes [107,108].

Unfortunately, the direct method SSA pays the price for its simplicity in computational time, as two random numbers must be generated at each step. The next reaction method is significantly more complicated but also faster for large systems and many reactions, with several algorithmic improvements to increase speed [109]; several other variants of the SSA have since been developed, also making improvements in computational speed [110,111] (further examples are helpfully summarised in two recent reviews [18,88]). However, despite these increases in computational speed, the SSA has an inherent limitation: it must simulate every single reaction. This is, of course, its great strength too, but in cases where there are many reactions or larger molecular populations, it often becomes too slow to generate useful numbers of simulations in a practical time period.

5.3. Tau-leap

In such cases, which occur quite often in real applications, we must turn to the tau-leap method [83]. This is similar to the SSA in that each simulation is a single stochastic realisation from the full distribution at each step. However, the steps are much larger (hence its name), their selection now being based on considerations of efficiency and accuracy. It counts the *total number of occurrences* of each type of

Table 1

Advantages and disadvantages of several modelling/simulation methods.

Simulation method	Cat.	Advantages	Disadvantages	References	Software
Master equation	4	Exact	Very computationally intensive	[85,143]	
SSA	4	Statistically exact	Very computationally intensive	[82,109]	COPASI [144]
					StochKit [145]
					BioNetS [147]
Tau-leap	4	Relatively fast	Approximate; too slow for large systems or frequent/multiscale reactions	[83,113,118]	StochKit [145]
Higher-order	4	Relatively fast; accurate	Approximate; too slow for large systems or frequent/multiscale reactions	[83,121,122,124,125]	
Multiscale/hybrid	4	Fast; good for systems with disparate reaction scales	Approximate; problems with coupling different scales	[131,132,137,139,148]	COPASI [144] BioNetS [147]
Brownian dynamics	2	Tracks individual molecules	Slow; molecule size must be artificially added	[149,150]	Smoldyn [149,151] MCell [152]
Compartment-based	3	Accounts for diffusion between	Slow; compartment size must be set manually;	[150,153,154]	MesoRD [153]
		homogeneous compartments	each compartment is homogeneous		URDME [155]
SDE	5	Fast	Continuous; Gaussian noise	[76]	BioNetS [147]
PDE (R-D)	6	Very fast; spatial	Continous; no noise	[156]	
ODE	6	Very fast	Continuous; no noise	[157]	

Cat. represents Category from Fig. 2. Abbreviations: SSA, stochastic simulation algorithm; SDE, stochastic differential equation; PDE (R-D), partial differential equation (classical reactiondiffusion equations); ODE, ordinary differential equation.

reaction over that step. Thus if there are *M* reactions, we take *M* Poisson random number samples based on the molecular populations at the beginning of the step. This has the key advantage that we now do not need to spend time simulating individual reactions. Therefore, the tauleap is much faster than the SSA: although this is very problemdependent, it is not uncommon to observe speedups of two orders of magnitude. However, its main drawback is that we have lost accuracy compared to the SSA, in three ways: first, we do not know exactly how many reactions occurred (we can only estimate this), second, we do not know exactly when each reaction occurred within the time step, and third, we cannot account for the fact that each reaction may affect the probability of the other reactions occurring by altering the chemical populations. This is illustrated in Fig. 6, comparing the master equation and SSA to the tau-leap with two different error levels. With the larger error level, the tau-leap has quite noticeably lost some accuracy. Finally, taking M Poisson random number samples per step can also be computationally intensive, depending on the size of M. The accuracy issue can be mitigated (at the expense of computational time) as the error level, and so time step size, is decreased; indeed, as the time step tends to zero, the tau-leap effectively becomes the SSA, with each step experiencing either zero or one reaction. Some implementations combine the SSA with tau-leaping via a threshold on the number of molecules in the system at any given time.

The steps of the tau-leap are chosen to maximise both computational efficiency and accuracy. However, these are generally mutually exclusive, so inevitably there is a trade-off to find the most optimal step size: the larger the time step, the less processing time the simulation takes but the more it loses accuracy, and vice versa. Several schemes have been devised to optimise the time step [112,113].

There is another, complementary, issue with the tau-leap: as many reactions are simulated at once, molecular species that are depleted in any reaction can go negative if the time step is too large. This is obviously unphysical, and so undesirable, and schemes have been developed that allow the choice of larger time steps whilst avoiding negative populations [113–118].

5.4. Higher-order tau-leap

Recently, another aspect of tau-leap methods has received attention, namely the order of accuracy. This is a mathematical property of numerical methods, and gives the answer to the question "by how much does the error of this method decrease as the time step is decreased?" The (weak) order of accuracy of the tau-leap is one [119–121], meaning that its error decreases proportionally to the time step. Higher-order methods have order greater than one, meaning that as the time step is decreased we gain accuracy compared to order one methods. Therefore, they allow us to use larger time steps to achieve the same error level, thus decreasing computational time. Their disadvantage is that they are mathematically more complicated. In addition, in the stochastic case it is not clear that methods up to arbitrarily high order can be constructed. Although, in fact, Gillespie himself first proposed the simplest such method along with the original tau-leap [83], this line of inquiry has only recently been the focus of more effort [121–126].

5.5. Multiscale methods

Although it is not uncommon for systems of interest to be rather complicated, this can often be overcome by using fast leaping methods. However, the classic counterexample is a system with reactions that operate at very different timescales, for instance one very slow and one very fast (called a 'stiff' system). These are not tractable via a master equation approach, either analytically or numerically, because the fast reactions increase the possible state space very quickly. The SSA would simulate every single fast reaction, and in doing so require huge computational effort. Ironically, although they constitute the vast majority of reactions in stiff systems, often the fast reactions are transient (that is, they settle down quickly after a slow reaction occurs) and what we are really interested in is the overall slow-scale dynamics of the system. Thus we again rely on approximate methods. Although standard tau-leap and higher-order tau-leap methods are able to simulate these systems, their time steps must be reduced, which can dramatically slow down simulation time when the separation of the scales is large and the fast reactions very frequent.

In such cases, we have two options: implicit methods or multiscale methods. On the one hand, implicit methods are based on deterministic methods for stiff systems. Their approach is to allow the use of normal-sized time steps by expanding the range of time steps where the method is stable, thus opening the door for stiff systems to be simulated in similar time periods as non-stiff ones [127–129].

On the other hand, multiscale methods partition reactions into fast and slow types, then simulate the reactions separately. Many different multiscale methods have been developed, so here we discuss their general outlines. The fast reactions are usually simulated using an approximate method (often deterministic approaches like moment equations derived from the master equation, or stochastic or ordinary differential equations) and the slow reactions using a more accurate stochastic method (stochastic differential equation, tau-leap, or SSA) [130–136]. The fast reactions can assume that the slow reactions are constant over their timescale; the slow reactions can assume that the fast reactions have relaxed to asymptotic values between each slow reaction. Thus, the two sets of reactions are simulated semi-independently. This can also be generalised to three or more regimes [137]. This approach allows for significant reductions in computational time as the fast reactions, which would take up the most computational effort, can be simulated very quickly with continuous methods. However, it also introduces errors associated with coupling the two scales, as well as the possibility of errors from the simulation of the fast reactions. These can be substantial when some molecular populations are very low. An interesting exception runs short bursts of a single SSA for the *fast* reactions, which is used to infer parameters for a differential equation approximation of the slow reactions [138,139].

6. Summary and outlook

In this mini-review, our aim has been to give an introduction to the background and an overview of discrete-state stochastic modelling and simulation methods that are commonly used in systems biology today to take account of stochasticity. We have deliberately avoided the mathematics that is typically used in such reviews to make this work more accessible for beginners and those with non-mathematical backgrounds interested in these methods. For a more mathematical introduction, the reader is encouraged to consult Refs. [18,20,21,23]. We have covered the major groups of methods within the discrete stochastic umbrella, and discussed their advantages and disadvantages; this information is distilled into Table 1. Where possible, we have also included in Table 1 software available for making use of these methods quickly and easily.

These methods are not only used in cell biology; they have also been employed in many other settings. For instance, the SSA has been used for population biological models [140]. In addition, it is widely used in chemistry and physics [141]; in fact, an identical approach was developed simultaneously for use in physics, known as the kinetic Monte Carlo algorithm [142].

As our space is limited, we have focussed our attention only on discrete stochastic methods that do not take spatial considerations into account (category 4, Fig. 2). However, there are many related methods (categories 2–6, Fig. 2) and the problems they can be used to address have a large amount of overlap. Although we have included molecular dynamics simulations in Fig. 2, the figure is not to scale, and there is a much bigger gap between molecular dynamics (category 1) and individual-based methods (category 2) than between individual-based methods and the rest. We have included methods in categories 2 to 6 in Table 1 with some references as a starting point. Common examples, with their category from Fig. 2 given in brackets, include Brownian dynamics (2), compartment-based methods (3), stochastic differential equations (5), reaction-diffusion equations (6, spatial) and ordinary differential equations (6).

One related area that we have not covered in this work is parameter inference and model selection (top arrow, Fig. 1), which is very important for testing and improving mathematical models. This involves using statistical methods to find model parameters from the available experimental data, and to discriminate between which model best fits this data (e.g., [67,158–160]). This is typically not an easy task, as there is often not as much data as would be statistically desirable and what data is available can be noisy; Bayesian approaches offer a way of surmounting these problems [84]. Three useful references that give an introduction to this fast-developing field are Refs. [22,23,84].

Finally, we turn to our opinion of what lies ahead for the field. There is still a lot of work ongoing to refine both the SSA and approximate methods. This is obviously an important task. However, as more and more new and improved such methods are being developed, it may be time to focus on the step-change improvements we can make. In particular, there are three areas where we stand to make significant improvements. Firstly, we are in the age of parallel processing, and parallelised stochastic methods allow us to start harnessing this power. This can be done using a standard desktop computer [161] or high-performance clusters. Moreover, modern graphics cards now have substantially more raw processing power than CPUs, as they consist of thousands of parallel graphical processing units. Because of the architecture of graphics cards this does not translate into a likefor-like decrease in computational time, but with proper parallelised methods it can be greatly reduced. Work in this area is ongoing [162–164]. Secondly, many multiscale methods have already been developed, but as multiscale problems are so common in real applications, we still have plenty of potential for development in this area. In particular, linking the fast and slow reactions introduces errors. The future promises super-multiscale models, where processes on many different scales are integrated into one model. For instance, one long-term goal of systems biology is patient-specific medicine, where a customised model of the entire body is generated and then used to diagnose and pinpoint remedial action for the patient [165]. In such cases, we would need more than two or three different modelling regimes because of the sheer differences in scales involved. Thus it is necessary to think about how we can develop models with many different scales, and link them together accurately. Finally, we believe that there is excellent potential in the related area of spatial stochastic methods. The limitation of non-spatial methods is that they can only be accurately applied to spatially homogeneous systems, but this assumption does not hold in many (or even most) cases of interest. For instance, the membrane of the cell is an extremely heterogeneous environment, and even the cytoplasm contains many macromolecules that impede diffusion [90]. It is important to develop methods that can take proper account of such heterogeneous environments.

In summary, discrete-state stochastic methods have now come into their own, especially in the last two decades, and they are now widely used in the sciences. Although we have made good progress in improving the basic methods and developing new ones, we still have some way before we can accurately simulate the wide variety of systems presented by the natural world.

Acknowledgements

TSz was supported during his DPhil by the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council through the Systems Biology Doctoral Training Centre, University of Oxford. We would like to thank three anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments on an earlier version of this manuscript.

References

- Fang FC, Casadevall A. Reductionistic and holistic science. Infect Immun 2011;79: 1401–4.
- [2] Gatherer D. So what do we really mean when we say that systems biology is *holistic*? BMC Syst Biol 2010;4:22.
- [3] Mitchell M. Complexity: a guided tour. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2009.
- [4] Kitano H. Computational systems biology. Nature 2002;420:206-10.
- [5] Epstein JM. Why model? J Artif Soc Soc Simul 2008;11:12.
- [6] Lander AD. The edges of understanding. BMC Biol 2010;8:40.
- [7] Mangel M. The theoretical biologist's toolbox: quantitative methods for ecology and evolutionary biology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2006.
- [8] Box GEP. Robustness in the strategy of scientific model building. In: Launer RL, Wilkinson GN, editors. Robustness in statistics. New York: Academic Press; 1979. p. 201–36.
- [9] Gunawardena J. Some lessons about models from Michaelis and Menten. Mol Biol Cell 2012;23:517–9.
- [10] Gunawardena J. Models in biology: accurate descriptions of our pathetic thinking. BMC Biol 2014;12:29.
- [11] McDouall JJW. Computational quantum chemistry: molecular structure and properties in silico. Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry; 2013.
- [12] Arndt M, Juffmann T, Vedral V. Quantum physics meets biology. HFSP J 2009;3: 386–400.
- [13] Lambert N, Chen YN, Cheng YC, Li CM, Chen GY, Nori F. Quantum biology. Nat Phys 2013;9:10–8.
- [14] Durrant JD, McCammon JA. Molecular dynamics simulations and drug discovery. BMC Biol 2011;9:71.

- [15] Hairer E, Nørsett SP, Wanner G. Solving ordinary differential equations I: nonstiff problems. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1993.
- [16] Burrage K. Parallel and sequential methods for ordinary differential equations. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1995.
- [17] John F. Partial differential equations. , volume 1New York: Springer; 1991.
- [18] Gillespie DT. Stochastic simulation of chemical kinetics. Annu Rev Phys Chem 2007; 58:35–55.
- [19] Pahle J. Biochemical simulations: stochastic, approximate stochastic and hybrid approaches. Brief Bioinform 2009;10:53–64.
- [20] Higham DJ. Modeling and simulating chemical reactions. SIAM Rev 2008;50: 347–68.
- [21] Goutsias J, Jenkinson G. Markovian dynamics on complex reaction networks. Phys Rep 2013;529:199–264.
- [22] Wilkinson DJ. Stochastic modelling for quantitative description of heterogeneous biological systems. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:122–33.
- [23] Wilkinson DJ. Stochastic modelling for systems biology. 2nd ed. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman and Hall/CRC Press; 2011.
- [24] McAdams HH, Arkin A. It's a noisy business! Genetic regulation at the nanomolar scale. Trends Genet 1999;15:65–9.
- [25] Huang S. Non-genetic heterogeneity of cells in development: more than just noise. Development 2009;136:3853–62.
- [26] Avery SV. Microbial cell individuality and the underlying sources of heterogeneity. Nat Rev Microbiol 2006;4:577–87.
- [27] Keller EF. The mirage of a space between nature and nurture. Durham, NC: Duke University Press Books; 2010.
- [28] Finch CE, Kirkwood TBL. Chance, development and aging. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- [29] Raser JM, O'Shea EK. Noise in gene expression: origins, consequences, and control. Science 2005;309:2010–3.
- [30] Raj A, van Oudenaarden A. Nature, nurture, or chance: stochastic gene expression and its consequences. Cell 2008;135:216–26.
- [31] Losos JB. Convergence, adaptation, and constraint. Evolution 2011;65:1827–40.
- [32] Manceau M, Domingues VS, Linnen CR, Rosenblum EB, Hoekstra HE. Convergence in pigmentation at multiple levels: mutations, genes and function. Phil Trans R Soc B 2010;365:2439–50.
- [33] Stern DL. The genetic causes of convergent evolution. Nat Rev Genet 2013;14: 751–64.
- [34] Parker J, Tsagkogeorga G, Cotton JA, Liu Y, Provero P, Stupka E, et al. Genome-wide signatures of convergent evolution in echolocating mammals. Nature 2013;502: 228–31.
- [35] Barton NH, Eisen JA, Goldstein DB, Patel NH, Briggs DEG. Evolution. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2007.
- [36] Kaern M, Elston T, Blake W, Collins J. Stochasticity in gene expression: from theories to phenotypes. Nat Rev Genet 2005;6:451–64.
- [37] Stockholm D, Benchaouir R, Picot J, Rameau P, Neildez TMA, Landini G, et al. The origin of phenotypic heterogeneity in a clonal cell population in vitro. PLoS One 2007; 2:e394.
- [38] Volfson D, Marciniak J, Blake WJ, Ostroff N, Tsimring LS, Hasty J. Origins of extrinsic variability in eukaryotic gene expression. Nature 2006;439:861–4.
- [39] Johnston IG, Gaal B, Neves RPd, Enver T, Iborra FJ, Jones NS. Mitochondrial variability as a source of extrinsic cellular noise. PLoS Comput Biol 2012;8:e1002416.
- [40] Viney M, Reece SE. Adaptive noise. Proc R Soc B 2013;280:20131104.
- [41] Spudich JL, Koshland Jr DE. Non-genetic individuality: chance in the single cell. Nature 1976;262:467–71.
 [42] Raj A, Peskin CS, Tranchina D, Vargas DY, Tyagi S. Stochastic mRNA synthesis in
- mammalian cells. PLoS Biol 2006;4:e309.
- [43] Maheshri N, OShea EK. Living with noisy genes: how cells function reliably with inherent variability in gene expression. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 2007;36: 413–34.
- [44] Elowitz MB, Levine AJ, Siggia ED, Swain PS. Stochastic gene expression in a single cell. Science 2002;297:1183–6.
- [45] Swain PS, Elowitz MB, Siggia E. Intrinsic and extrinsic contributions to stochasticity in gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:12795–800.
- [46] Stamatakis M, Adams RM, Balázsi G. A common repressor pool results in indeterminacy of extrinsic noise. Chaos 2011;21:047523.
- [47] Balaban NQ, Merrin J, Chait R, Kowalik L, Leibler S. Bacterial persistence as a phenotypic switch. Science 2004;305:1622–5.
- [48] Fraser D, Kaern M. A chance at survival: gene expression noise and phenotypic diversification strategies. Mol Microbiol 2009;71:1333–40.
- [49] Balázsi G, van Oudenaarden A, Collins JJ. Cellular decision making and biological noise: from microbes to mammals. Cell 2011;144:910–25.
- [50] May T, Eccleston L, Herrmann S, Hauser H, Goncalves J, Wirth D. Bimodal and hysteretic expression in mammalian cells from a synthetic gene circuit. PLoS One 2008;3:e2372.
- [51] Nevozhay D, Adams RM, Van Itallie E, Bennett MR, Balzsi G. Mapping the environmental fitness landscape of a synthetic gene circuit. PLoS Comput Biol 2012;8: e1002480.
- [52] Choi PJ, Cai L, Frieda K, Xie XS. A stochastic single-molecule event triggers phenotype switching of a bacterial cell. Science 2008;322:442–6.
- [53] Arkin A, Ross J, McAdams HH. Stochastic kinetic analysis of developmental pathway bifurcation in phage λ-infected *Escherichia coli* cells. Genetics 1998;149: 1633–48.
- [54] Acar M, Mettetal JT, van Oudenaarden A. Stochastic switching as a survival strategy in fluctuating environments. Nat Genet 2008;40:471–5.
- [55] Chang HH, Hemberg M, Barahona M, Ingber DE, Huang S. Transcriptome-wide noise controls lineage choice in mammalian progenitor cells. Nature 2008;453:544–7.

- [56] Friedberg EC, Walker GC, Siede W, Wood RD. DNA repair and mutagenesis. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 2006.
- [57] Pennington JM, Rosenberg SM. Spontaneous DNA breakage in single living Escherichia coli cells. Nat Genet 2007;39:797-802.
- [58] Gregory TR. Understanding natural selection: essential concepts and common misconceptions. Evol: Educ Outreach 2009;2:156–75.
- [59] Eyre-Walker A, Keightley PD. High genomic deleterious mutation rates in hominids. Nature 1999;397:344-7.
- [60] Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature 2013;500:415–21.
- [61] Rodriguez-Brenes IA, Komarova NL, Wodarz D. Evolutionary dynamics of feedback escape and the development of stem-cell driven cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:18983–8.
- [62] Rosenfeld N, Young JW, Alon U, Swain PS, Elowitz MB. Gene regulation at the single-cell level. Science 2005;307:1962–5.
- [63] Rao CV, Wolf DM, Arkin AP. Control, exploitation and tolerance of intracellular noise. Nature 2002;420:231-7.
- [64] Barkai N, Shilo B. Variability and robustness in biomolecular systems. Mol Cell 2007;28:755–60.
- [65] Fraser HB, Hirsh AE, Giaever G, Kumm J, Eisen MB. Noise minimization in eukaryotic gene expression. PLoS Biol 2004;2:834–8.
- [66] Lehner B. Selection to minimise noise in living systems and its implications for the evolution of gene expression. Mol Syst Biol 2008;4:170.
- [67] Chen WW, Niepel M, Sorger PK. Classic and contemporary approaches to modeling biochemical reactions. Genes Dev 2010;24:1861–75.
- [68] van Kampen NG. Stochastic processes in physics and chemistry. 3rd ed. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2007.
- [69] Thattai M, van Oudenaarden A. Intrinsic noise in gene regulatory networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:8614–9.
- [70] Paulsson J. Summing up the noise in gene networks. Nature 2004;427:415-8.
- [71] Munsky B, Neuert G, van Oudenaarden A. Using gene expression noise to understand gene regulation. Science 2012;336:183–7.
- [72] Newman JRS, Ghaemmaghami S, Ihmels J, Breslow DK, Noble M, DeRisi JL, et al. Single-cell proteomic analysis of *S. cerevisiae* reveals the architecture of biological noise. Nature 2006;441:840–6.
- [73] Bar-Even A, Paulsson J, Maheshri N, Carmi M, O'Shea E, Pilpel Y, et al. Noise in protein expression scales with natural protein abundance. Nat Genet 2006;38:636–43.
- [74] Taniguchi Y, Choi PJ, Li GW, Chen H, Babu M, Hearn J, et al. Quantifying *E. coli* proteome and transcriptome with single-molecule sensitivity in single cells. Science 2010;329:533–8.
- [75] McAdams HH, Arkin A. Stochastic mechanisms in gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997;94:814–9.
- [76] Kloeden PE, Platen E. Numerical solution of stochastic differential equations. 3rd ed. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 1999.
- [77] Higham DJ. An algorithmic introduction to numerical simulation of stochastic differential equations. SIAM Rev 2001;43:525–46.
- [78] Gillespie DT. The chemical Langevin equation. J Chem Phys 2000;113:297–306.
- [79] Schlögl F. Chemical reaction models for nonequilibrium phase-transitions. Z Phys 1972;253:147–61.
- [80] Gillespie DT, Mangel M. Conditioned averages in chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 1981;75:704–9.
- [81] Gillespie DT. General method for numerically simulating stochastic time evolution of coupled chemical-reactions. J Comput Phys 1976;22:403–34.
- [82] Gillespie DT. Exact stochastic simulation of coupled chemical reactions. J Phys Chem 1977;81:2340-61.
- [83] Gillespie DT. Approximate accelerated stochastic simulation of chemically reacting systems. J Chem Phys 2001;115:1716–33.
- [84] Wilkinson DJ. Bayesian methods in bioinformatics and computational systems biology. Brief Bioinform 2007;8:109–16.
- [85] Gillespie DT. A rigorous derivation of the chemical master equation. Physica A 1992;188:404–25.
- [86] Gillespie DT. Markov processes: an introduction for physical scientists. Boston, MA: Academic Press; 1992.
- [87] Waters JC. Accuracy and precision in quantitative fluorescence microscopy. J Cell Biol 2009;185:1135–48.
- [88] Gillespie DT, Hellander A, Petzold LR. Perspective: stochastic algorithms for chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 2013;138:170901.
- [89] Gillespie DT. A diffusional bimolecular propensity function. J Chem Phys 2009;131: 164109.
- [90] Ellis RJ. Macromolecular crowding: obvious but underappreciated. Trends Biochem Sci 2001;26:597–604.
- [91] Zhou HX, Rivas G, Minton AP. Macromolecular crowding and confinement: biochemical, biophysical, and potential physiological consequences. Annu Rev Biophys 2008;37:375–97.
- [92] Elcock AH. Models of macromolecular crowding effects and the need for quantitative comparisons with experiment. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2010;20: 196–206.
- [93] Marquez-Lago TT, Leier A, Burrage K. Anomalous diffusion and multifractional brownian motion: simulating molecular crowding and physical obstacles in systems biology. IET Syst Biol 2012;6:134–42.
- [94] Höfling F, Franosch T. Anomalous transport in the crowded world of biological cells. Rep Prog Phys 2013;76:046602.
- [95] Shahrezaei V, Ollivier JF, Swain PS. Colored extrinsic fluctuations and stochastic gene expression. Mol Syst Biol 2008;4:196.
- [96] Jahnke T, Huisinga W. Solving the chemical master equation for monomolecular reaction systems analytically. J Math Biol 2007;54:1–26.

- [97] Munsky B, Khammash M. The finite state projection algorithm for the solution of the chemical master equation. J Chem Phys 2006;124:044104.
- [98] MacNamara S, Burrage K, Sidje RB. Multiscale modeling of chemical kinetics via the master equation. Multiscale Model Simul 2008;6:1146–68.
- [99] MacNamara S, Burrage K. Stochastic modeling of naïve T cell homeostasis for competing clonotypes via the master equation. Multiscale Model Simul 2010;8:1325–47.
- [100] Jahnke T, Huisinga W. A dynamical low-rank approach to the chemical master equation. Bull Math Biol 2008;70:2283–302.
- [101] Kazeev V, Khammash M, Nip M, Schwab C. Direct solution of the chemical master equation using quantized tensor trains. PLoS Comput Biol 2014;10:e1003359.
- [102] Walczak AM, Mugler A, Wiggins CH. A stochastic spectral analysis of transcriptional regulatory cascades. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:6529–34.
- [103] Singh A, Hespanha JP. Approximate moment dynamics for chemically reacting systems. IEEE Trans Autom Control 2011;56:414–8.
- [104] Milner P, Gillespie CS, Wilkinson DJ. Moment closure approximations for stochastic kinetic models with rational rate laws. Math Biosci 2011;231:99–104.
- [105] Ale A, Kirk P, Stumpf MPH. A general moment expansion method for stochastic kinetic models. J Chem Phys 2013;138:174101.
- [106] Wallace EWJ, Gillespie DT, Sanft KR, Petzold LR. Linear noise approximation is valid over limited times for any chemical system that is sufficiently large. IET Syst Biol 2012;6:102–15.
- [107] Bratsun D, Volfson D, Tsimring LS, Hasty J. Delay-induced stochastic oscillations in gene regulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:14593–8.
- [108] Barrio M, Burrage K, Leier A, Tian T. Oscillatory regulation of hes1: discrete stochastic delay modelling and simulation. PLoS Comput Biol 2006;2:1017–30.
- [109] Gibson MA, Bruck J. Efficient exact stochastic simulation of chemical systems with many species and many channels. J Phys Chem A 2000;104:1876–89.
- [110] Cao Y, Li H, Petzold LR. Efficient formulation of the stochastic simulation algorithm for chemically reacting systems. J Chem Phys 2004;121:4059–67.
- [111] Yates CA, Klingbeil G. Recycling random numbers in the stochastic simulation algorithm. J Chem Phys 2013;138:094103.
- [112] Gillespie DT, Petzold LR. Improved leap-size selection for accelerated stochastic simulation. J Chem Phys 2003;119:8229–34.
- [113] Cao Y, Gillespie DT, Petzold LR. Efficient step size selection for the tau-leaping simulation method. J Chem Phys 2006;124:044109.
- [114] Tian T, Burrage K. Binomial leap methods for simulating stochastic chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 2004;121:10356–64.
- [115] Chatterjee A, Vlachos DG, Katsoulakis MA. Binomial distribution based tau-leap accelerated stochastic simulation. J Chem Phys 2005;122:024112.
- [116] Peng X, Zhou W, Wang Y. Efficient binomial leap method for simulating chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 2007;126:224109.
- [117] Pettigrew MF, Resat H. Multinomial tau-leaping method for stochastic kinetic simulations. J Chem Phys 2007;126:084101.
- [118] Yates CA, Burrage K. Look before you leap: a confidence-based method for selecting species criticality while avoiding negative populations in tau-leaping. J Chem Phys 2011;134:084109.
- [119] Rathinam M, Petzold LR, Cao Y, Gillespie DT. Consistency and stability of tau-leaping schemes for chemical reaction systems. Multiscale Model Simul 2005;4:867–95.
- [120] Li T. Analysis of explicit tau-leaping schemes for simulating chemically reacting systems. Multiscale Model Simul 2007;6:417–36.
- [121] Hu Y, Li T, Min B. A weak second order tau-leaping method for chemical kinetic systems. J Chem Phys 2011;135:024113.
- [122] Hu Y, Li T. Highly accurate tau-leaping methods with random corrections. J Chem Phys 2009;130:124109.
- [123] Anderson DF, Koyama M. Weak error analysis of numerical methods for stochastic models of population processes. Multiscale Model Simul 2012;10:1493–524.
- [124] Székely Jr T, Burrage K, Erban R, Zygalakis KC. A higher-order numerical framework for stochastic simulation of chemical reaction systems. BMC Syst Biol 2012;6:85.
- [125] Székely Jr T, Burrage K, Zygalakis KC, Barrio M. Efficient simulation of stochastic chemical kinetics with the Stochastic Bulirsch–Stoer extrapolation method. BMC Syst Biol 2014;8:71.
- [126] Xu Z, Cai X. Unbiased tau-leap methods for stochastic simulation of chemically reacting systems. J Chem Phys 2008;128:154112.
- [127] Rathinam M, Petzold LR, Cao Y, Gillespie DT. Stiffness in stochastic chemically reacting systems: the implicit tau-leaping method. | Chem Phys 2003;119:12784–94.
- [128] Cao Y, Gillespie DT, Petzold LR. The adaptive explicit-implicit tau-leaping method with automatic tau selection. J Chem Phys 2007;126:224101.
- [129] Rué P, Villa-Freixà J, Burrage K. Simulation methods with extended stability for stiff biochemical kinetics. BMC Syst Biol 2010;4:110–23.
- [130] Cao Y, Gillespie DT, Petzold LR. Avoiding negative populations in explicit Poisson tau-leaping. [Chem Phys 2005;123:054104.
- [131] Goutsias J. Quasiequilibrium approximation of fast reaction kinetics in stochastic biochemical systems. J Chem Phys 2005;122:184102.
- [132] Haseltine EL, Rawlings JB. Approximate simulation of coupled fast and slow reactions for stochastic chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 2002;117:6959–69.

- [133] Rao CV, Arkin AP. Stochastic chemical kinetics and the quasi-steady-state assumption: application to the Gillespie algorithm. J Chem Phys 2003;118:4999–5010.
- [134] Kiehl TR, Mattheyses RM, Simmons MK. Hybrid simulation of cellular behavior. Bioinformatics 2004;20:316–22.
 [135] W. E., Liu D, Vanden-Eijnden E. Nested stochastic simulation algorithm for chemical
- kinetic systems with disparate rates. J Chem Phys 2005;123:194107.
 [136] Salis H. Kaznessis Y. Accurate hybrid stochastic simulation of a system of coupled
- chemical or biochemical reactions. J Chem Phys 2005;122:054103.
 [137] Burrage K, Tian T, Burrage P. A multi-scaled approach for simulating chemical reac-
- tion systems. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2004;85:217–34.
- [138] Erban R, Kevrekidis IĜ, Adalsteinsson D, Elston TC. Gene regulatory networks: a coarse-grained, equation-free approach to multiscale computation. J Chem Phys 2006;124:084106.
- [139] Cotter SL, Zygalakis KC, Kevrekidis IG, Erban R. A constrained approach to multiscale stochastic simulation of chemically reacting systems. J Chem Phys 2011;135:094102.
- [140] Renshaw E. Modelling biological populations in space and time. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1991.
- [141] Harrison P. Computational methods in physics, chemistry and biology: an introduction. Chichester: Wiley; 2001.
- [142] Bortz AB, Kalos MH, Lebowitz JL. A new algorithm for Monte Carlo simulation of Ising spin systems. J Comput Phys 1975;17:10–8.
- [143] MacNamara S, Bersani AM, Burrage K, Sidje RB. Stochastic chemical kinetics and the total quasi-steady-state assumption: application to the stochastic simulation algorithm and chemical master equation. J Chem Phys 2008;129:095105.
- [144] Hoops S, Sahle S, Gauges R, Lee C, Pahle J, Simus N, et al. COPASI a COmplex PAthway SImulator. Bioinformatics 2006;22:3067–74.
- [145] Sanft KR, Wu S, Roh M, Fu J, Lim RK, Petzold LR. StochKit2: software for discrete stochastic simulation of biochemical systems with events. Bioinformatics 2011;27: 2457–8.
- [146] Kierzek AM. STOCKS: STOChastic Kinetic Simulations of biochemical systems with gillespie algorithm. Bioinformatics 2002;18:470–81.
- [147] Adalsteinsson D, McMillen D, Elston TC. Biochemical network stochastic simulator (BioNetS): software for stochastic modeling of biochemical networks. BMC Bioinformatics 2004;5:24.
- [148] Cao Y, Gillespie DT, Petzold LR. The slow-scale stochastic simulation algorithm. Chem Phys 2005;122:014116.
- [149] Andrews SS, Addy NJ, Brent R, Arkin AP. Detailed simulations of cell biology with Smoldyn 2.1. PLoS Comput Biol 2010;6:e1000705.
- [150] Erban R, Chapman SJ. Stochastic modelling of reaction-diffusion processes: algorithms for bimolecular reactions. Phys Biol 2009;6:046001.
- [151] Andrews SS, Bray D. Stochastic simulation of chemical reactions with spatial resolution and single molecule detail. Phys Biol 2004;1:137–51.
- [152] Kerr RA, Bartol TM, Kaminsky B, Dittrich M, Chang JCJ, Baden SB, et al. Fast Monte Carlo simulation methods for biological reaction-diffusion systems in solution and on surfaces. SIAM J Sci Comput 2008;30:3126–49.
- [153] Hattne J, Fange D, Elf J. Stochastic reaction-diffusion simulation with MesoRD. Bioinformatics 2005;21:2923–4.
- [154] Marquez-Lago T, Burrage K. Binomial tau-leap spatial stochastic simulation algorithm for applications in chemical kinetics. J Chem Phys 2007;127:104101.
- [155] Drawert B, Engblom S, Hellander A. URDME: a modular framework for stochastic simulation of reaction-transport processes in complex geometries. BMC Syst Biol 2012;6:76.
- [156] Maini PK, Painter KJ, Chau HNP. Spatial pattern formation in chemical and biological systems. J Chem Soc, Faraday Trans 1997;93:3601–10.
- [157] Iserles A. A first course in the numerical analysis of differential equations. 2nd ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2009.
- [158] Robson A, Burrage K, Leake MC. Inferring diffusion in single live cells at the singlemolecule level. Phil Trans R Soc B 2013;368:20120029.
- [159] Lillacci G, Khammash M. Parameter estimation and model selection in computational biology. PLoS Comput Biol 2010;6:e1000696.
- [160] Toni T, Welch D, Strelkowa N, Ipsen A, Stumpf MPH. Approximate Bayesian computation scheme for parameter inference and model selection in dynamical systems. J R Soc Interface 2009;6:187–202.
- [161] Gillespie CS. Stochastic simulation of chemically reacting systems using multi-core processors. J Chem Phys 2012;136:014101.
- [162] Klingbeil G, Erban R, Giles M, Maini PK. STOCHSIMGPU: parallel stochastic simulation for the systems biology toolbox 2 for MATLAB. Bioinformatics 2011;27:1170–1.
- [163] Hallock MJ, Stone JE, Roberts E, Fry C, Luthey-Schulten Z. Simulation of reaction diffusion processes over biologically relevant size and time scales using multi-GPU workstations. Parallel Comput 2014;40:86–99.
- [164] Nobile MS, Cazzaniga P, Besozzi D, Pescini D, Mauri G. cuTauLeaping: a GPUpowered tau-leaping stochastic simulator for massive parallel analyses of biological systems. PLoS One 2014;9:e91963.
- [165] Diamandis M, White NMA, Yousef GM. Personalized medicine: marking a new epoch in cancer patient management. Mol Cancer Res 2010;8:1175–87.